
 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

September 4, 2024, 6:00 p.m. – 7:00 p.m. 
111 Washington Ave, Suite 100, Albany, NY 12210  

Conference Room 
 

1. Welcome       Michael Paparian, Vice Chair 
 

2. Roll Call for Record      Michael Paparian, Vice Chair 
 

3. June 5 Meeting Minutes            Michael Paparian, Vice Chair 
 

4. Committee Reports: 
a. Finance Report     Michael Paparian, Chair 

i. July Financial Narrative & Statement  Amy Thompson, CFO  
ii. 2025 Budget  

b. Governance Report      Marlene McTigue, Chair  
c. Audit Report       William Murphy, Chair 

 
5. CFO Report       Amy Thompson, CFO 

 
6. CEO Report       Kevin O’Connor, CEO 

 
7. Other Business 

a. UTEP Policy  
i. (action) Approval Resolution   Christopher Canada, Esq.  

b. Atlas Copco      
i. (action) SEQR Resolution   Christopher Canada, Esq. 

ii. (action) Approval Resolution    
     

8. Public Comments / Open Discussion    All Board Members 
 

9. Executive Session (if necessary)     Michael Paparian, Vice Chair 
 

10. Adjournment       Michael Paparian, Vice Chair 

 
A L B A N Y  C O U N T Y   

I N D U S T R I A L  D E V E L O P M E N T  A G E N C Y  

 
WILLIAM M. CLAY, CHAIRMAN 

MICHAEL PAPARIAN, VICE CHAIRMAN 
ANTON DRESLIN 

MARLENE MCTIGUE 
PAUL NYLIN 

WILLIAM MURPHY  
HON. WANDA WILLINGHAM 

 

A L B A N Y  C O U N T Y  B U S I N E S S  H U B  
111  WA S H I N G T O N  AV E  

SU I T E  100  
A L B A N Y,  N E W  YO R K   12210  

(518)  447-5602 
 



ROLL CALL - ACIDA 
 

September 4, 2024, 6:00 p.m. – 7:00 p.m. 
111 Washington Ave, Suite 100, Albany, NY 12210  

Conference Room 
 
 

Board Member Present / Excused / Absent 
Hon. William Clay, Chairman  
Michael Paparian, Vice Chairman  
Marlene McTigue, Secretary  
William Murphy, Treasurer  
Anton Dreslin, Assistant Secretary  
Paul Nylin, Member  
Hon. Wanda Willingham, Member  

 



ALBANY COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY (ACIDA) 
BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

June 5, 2024 
 

The monthly Board Member meeting of the Albany County Industrial Development 
Agency was held on Wednesday, June 5, 2024, at 6 : 0 0 o'clock pm at 111 Washington Ave, 
Albany, New York, 12210  

Attending 

Michael Paparian, Vice Chairman; Paul Nylin, Member; Marlene McTigue, Member, William 
Murphy, Member, Anton Dreslin, Member 

 
Also Present 

Kevin O'Connor, Chief Executive Officer; Amy Thompson, Chief Financial Officer; 
Antionette Hedge, Executive Assistant, Advance Albany County Alliance; Christopher C. 
Canada, Hodgson Russ LLP.; Shannon Wagner, Hodgson Russ. LLP; Mark Gustavson, 
Executive VP, KathodeRay  

Excused 
 

William Clay, Chairman and Hon. Wanda Willingham, Member 
 

Call to Order 
 

The ACIDA Meeting was called to order by acting Chairman Michael Paparian at 6:02 pm. 

 
Roll Call 

 
Roll was called, and it was noted a quorum was present. 
 

Approval of the Meeting Minutes 
 

Acting Chairman Michael Paparian asked for a motion to approve the Minutes of March 20, 

2024, monthly meeting as presented.  

Motion by Marlene McTigue and Seconded by Paul Nylin 

Vote: Motion was adopted (5-0) 

Motion passed.  

Committee Reports  

Amy Thopson, CFO, presented Finance Report of the April 2024 Financial Narrative and 

Finances.   

Marlene McTigue presented the Governance Committee report and presented the Amended 



UTEP. The Board discussed the matrix to be used for future projects and the recommendation for 

a Public Hearing. 

Acting Chairman, Michael Paparian ask for a Motion to have a Public Hearing.  

Motion by Marlene McTigue and Seconded by Anton Dreslin 

Vote: Motion was adopted (5-0)    

CFO Report 
 

None. 

CEO Report 
 

Kevin O’Connor, CEO discussed the appointment of a Procurement Officer as requested by the 

ABO. Acting Chairman, Michael Paparian ask for a Motion to appoint Amy Thompson, CFO as 

the new Procurement Officer. 

Motion by Anton Dreslin and Seconded Paul Nylin 

Vote: Motion was adopted (5-0)    

Kevin O’Connor, CEO presented the Economic Impact Study for Atlas Copco Comptec, LLC. 

New Business  
 

Kevin O’Connor introduced Todd Gibbs, Atlas Copco who gave a high-level overview of the 

Atlas Copco Comtec, LLC application. Christoper C. Canada, Esq. presented a Public Hearing 

Resolution. Acting Chairman Michael Paparian asked for a motion to accept Public Hearing 

Resolution for Atlas Copco Comptec, LLC Project.  

 
Motion by Marlene McTigue and Seconded by William Murphy 

Vote: Motion was adopted (5-0) 

 
Other Business 

 
Kevin O’Connor, CEO introduced Mark Gustavson, Executive VP of KathodeRay. Mr. 

Gustavson presented the Board with an update on the ACIDA website. After a discussion, the 

Board approved the website to go live. 

 

 



Public Comments 
No comments.  

Executive Session 
None. 

Adjournment  

 
Acting Chairman Michael Paparian asked for a motion to adjourn the meeting.  

Motion by Anton Dreslin and Seconded by Paul Nylin 

Vote: Motion was adopted (5-0) 

Motion passed. 

The meeting adjourned 6:50 pm. 

 

 

 



ALBANY COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 
Financial Statement Narrative 

For the Period Ending July 31, 2024 
 

This report provides an overview of the P&L and Balance Sheet for the Albany County Industrial 
Development Agency for YTD July 2024. 
 
The Albany County IDA is committed to fostering economic growth and development in the region by 
promoting industrial projects and supporting businesses. 
 
The IDA’s financial performance remains robust and can be attributed to successful project 
implementation and prudent financial management.  The agency’s commitment to sound fiscal policies 
and investments has contributed to the positive financial outcomes. 
 
Total revenue YTD is $306,835 of which $284,000 were fees collected from Atlas Copco, Regeneron and 
CHPE and $22,835 is interest earned.  Our current cash position is strong at $4,590,648.  Expenditures 
for YTD July were $182,789, an average of $26,113 per month. Our net revenue YTD is $124,046 versus 
a budgeted loss of $8,333 due to receiving the fee from Regeneron. 
 
The IDA will continue to invest in key projects with private companies aimed at creating employment 
opportunities and fostering economic development such as Regeneron and Atlas Copco. These initiatives 
will generate positive economic externalities and contribute to the long-term viability of the region.  Going 
forward, Camoin Associates will produce an economic impact report for all projects to be presented to the 
board. 
 
Looking ahead, the IDA is poised for continued success, with a robust pipeline of projects and a strategic 
vision for sustainable development. The agency will remain adaptive to economic trends, regulatory 
changes, and industry dynamics to ensure its relevance and effectiveness in the years to come. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Profit & Loss 
 
Operating Revenue – 
 
Fees collected as of July 31, 2024 were $284,000.  This includes fees collected from Atlas Copco for 
$1,500, CHPE LLC for $7,500 and Regeneron in the amount of $275,000. 
 
Interest income of $22,835 is comprised of interest earned on CD’s that were previously held at Trustco 
Bank.  We have moved funds to M&T bank in efforts to earn at a higher interest rate. In July we opened a 
90 day CD at M&T with an interest rate of 4.12% to increase our future interest earned. 
 
 
Operating Expenses– 
 
Insurance expense of $1,500 is for D&O insurance held with Aurora Insurance. 
 
Computer/Internet expense of $659 is the QuickBooks expense. 
 
Dues/Subscriptions of $10,670 was to CEG for the annual investment of $10,000 and annual dues of 
$670. 
 
Legal & Professional Fees of $12,365 was for legal services provided by Hodgson Russ in the amount of 
$4,065, audit fee paid to Teal Becker Chiarmonte for $8,300. 
 
AACA Management Fee expense of $155,555 includes 7 months of the AACA mgmt fee. 
 
Balance Sheet 
 
Assets – 
 
Cash balance as of July 31, 2024 is $4,590,648.  All funds are now held at M&T bank and a CD purchase 
of $3M was made in July to earn more interest. 
 
Prepaid expense balance of $429 is comprised of an insurance payment to Aurora for the time period of 
October 2023 to September 2024. 
 
Liabilities – 
 
None 
 
 
 
 



Total
ASSETS

   Current Assets

      Bank Accounts

         204-10 M&T Checking 589,669.81  

         204-20 M&T Money Market 1,000,978.25  

         204-20 M&T CD 90 Day 4.12% 3,000,000.00  

      Total Bank Accounts $                                                                   4,590,648.06  

      Other Current Assets

         480-00 PREPAID EXPENSES 428.70  

      Total Other Current Assets $                                                                             428.70  

   Total Current Assets $                                                                   4,591,076.76  

   Fixed Assets

      104-00 Office Furniture & Equipment 10,118.37  

      104-01 Website 14,456.92  

      105-00 Accumulated Depreciation -10,519.95  

   Total Fixed Assets $                                                                        14,055.34  

TOTAL ASSETS $                                                                   4,605,132.10  

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

   Liabilities

      Current Liabilities

         Accounts Payable

            2000 *Accounts Payable 22,222.22  

         Total Accounts Payable $                                                                        22,222.22  

      Total Current Liabilities $                                                                        22,222.22  

   Total Liabilities $                                                                        22,222.22  

   Equity

      3000 Opening Bal Equity 0.00  

      909-00 Retained Earnings 4,458,864.03  

      Net Revenue                                                                          124,045.85 

   Total Equity $                                                                   4,582,909.88  

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $                                                                   4,605,132.10  

Albany County Industrial Development Agency
Statement of Financial Position

As of July 31, 2024



Total
Revenue

   2116-00 FEES 284,000.00  

   2401-00 INTEREST AND EARNINGS 22,835.05  

Total Revenue $                                                                      306,835.05  

Gross Profit $                                                                      306,835.05  

Expenditures

   6462-01 INSURANCE 1,500.31  

   6465-01 COMPUTER/INTERNET 658.77  

   6466-01 DUES/SUBSCRIPTIONS 10,670.00  

   6467-00 LEGAL & PROFESSIONAL FEES 12,365.50  

   6470-00 BANK CHARGES 1,637.50  

   6471-11 AACA MGMT FEE 155,555.54  

   6763-00 DEPRECIATION 401.58  

Total Expenditures $                                                                      182,789.20  

Net Operating Revenue $                                                                      124,045.85  

Net Revenue $                                                                      124,045.85  

Albany County Industrial Development Agency
Statement of Activity

YTD July 2024



Ac
tu

al
B

ud
ge

t
ov

er
 B

ud
ge

t
%

 o
f B

ud
ge

t
R

ev
en

ue

   
21

16
-0

0 
FE

ES
28

4,
00

0.
00

  
97

,2
20

.6
5 

 
18

6,
77

9.
35

  
29

2.
12

%

   
24

01
-0

0 
IN

TE
RE

ST
 A

ND
 E

AR
NI

NG
S

22
,8

35
.0

5 
 

78
,7

50
.0

0 
 

-5
5,

91
4.

95
  

29
.0

0%

To
ta

l R
ev

en
ue

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

 3
06

,8
35

.0
5 

 
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
 1

75
,9

70
.6

5 
 

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

 1
30

,8
64

.4
0 

 
17

4.
37

%

G
ro

ss
 P

ro
fit

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

 3
06

,8
35

.0
5 

 
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
 1

75
,9

70
.6

5 
 

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

 1
30

,8
64

.4
0 

 
17

4.
37

%

Ex
pe

nd
itu

re
s

   
64

62
-0

1 
IN

SU
R

AN
C

E
1,

50
0.

31
  

1,
75

0.
00

  
-2

49
.6

9 
 

85
.7

3%

   
64

64
-0

0 
O

PE
R

AT
IN

G
 E

XP
EN

SE
S

0.
00

  
5,

94
8.

46
  

-5
,9

48
.4

6 
 

0.
00

%

   
64

65
-0

1 
CO

M
PU

TE
R/

IN
TE

RN
ET

65
8.

77
  

87
5.

00
  

-2
16

.2
3 

 
75

.2
9%

   
64

66
-0

1 
DU

ES
 &

 S
UB

SC
RI

PT
IO

NS
10

,6
70

.0
0 

 
10

,0
00

.0
0 

 
67

0.
00

  
10

6.
70

%

   
64

67
-0

0 
LE

G
AL

 &
 P

R
O

FE
SS

IO
N

AL
 F

EE
S

12
,3

65
.5

0 
 

10
,0

00
.0

0 
 

2,
36

5.
50

  
12

3.
66

%

   
64

70
-0

0 
BA

NK
 C

HA
RG

ES
1,

63
7.

50
  

17
5.

00
  

1,
46

2.
50

  
93

5.
71

%

   
64

71
-1

1 
AA

C
A 

M
G

M
T 

FE
E

15
5,

55
5.

54
  

15
5,

55
5.

54
  

0.
00

  
10

0.
00

%

   
67

63
-0

0 
D

EP
R

EC
IA

TI
O

N
40

1.
58

  
0.

00
  

40
1.

58
  

10
0.

00
%

To
ta

l E
xp

en
di

tu
re

s
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
 1

82
,7

89
.2

0 
 

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

 1
84

,3
04

.0
0 

 
-$

   
   

   
   

   
   

  1
,5

14
.8

0 
 

99
.1

8%

N
et

 O
pe

ra
tin

g 
R

ev
en

ue
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
 1

24
,0

45
.8

5 
 

-$
   

   
   

   
   

   
  8

,3
33

.3
5 

 
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
 1

32
,3

79
.2

0 
 

-1
48

8.
55

%

N
et

 R
ev

en
ue

   
   

   
   

   
   

  1
24

,0
45

.8
5 

-$
   

   
   

   
   

   
  8

,3
33

.3
5 

 
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
 1

32
,3

79
.2

0 
 

-1
48

8.
55

%

Al
ba

ny
 C

ou
nt

y 
In

du
st

ria
l D

ev
el

op
m

en
t A

ge
nc

y
B

ud
ge

t v
s.

 A
ct

ua
ls

YT
D

 J
ul

y 
20

24

To
ta

l



































































 
65617691v2 012014.00006 

UNIFORM TAX EXEMPTION POLICY AMENDMENTS  
APPROVING RESOLUTION 

 
A regular meeting of the Albany County Industrial Development Agency (the “Agency”) was 

convened in public session in Suite 100 at 111 Washington Avenue in the City of Albany, Albany County, 
New York on September 4, 2024 at 6:00 o’clock p.m., local time. 
 

The meeting was called to order by the (Vice) Chairperson of the Agency and, upon roll being 
called, the following members of the Agency were: 
 
PRESENT: 
 

Hon. William M. Clay Chairperson 
Michael Paparian Vice Chairperson 
Marlene McTigue Secretary 
Anton Dreslin Assistant Secretary 
William Murphy Treasurer 
Paul Nylin Member 
Hon. Wanda Willingham Member 

 
ABSENT: 
 

  
  

 
AGENCY STAFF PRESENT INCLUDED THE FOLLOWING: 
 

Kevin O’Connor Chief Executive Officer 
Amy Thompson Chief Financial Officer 
Lucas Rogers Senior Policy Analyst 
Christopher C. Canada, Esq. Agency Counsel 

 
The following resolution was offered by ______________, seconded by ______________, to wit: 

 
Resolution No. 0924-___ 

 
RESOLUTION APPROVING CERTAIN AMENDMENTS TO THE UNIFORM 
TAX EXEMPTION POLICY OF ALBANY COUNTY INDUSTRIAL 
DEVELOPMENT AGENCY.  

 
WHEREAS, Albany County Industrial Development Agency (the “Agency”) is authorized and 

empowered by the provisions of Chapter 1030 of the 1969 Laws of New York, constituting Title 1 of Article 
18-A of the General Municipal Law, Chapter 24 of the Consolidated Laws of New York, as amended (the 
“Enabling Act”) and Chapter 178 of the 1975 Laws of New York, as amended, constituting Section 903-b 
of said General Municipal Law (said Chapter and the Enabling Act being hereinafter collectively referred 
to as the “Act”) to promote, develop, encourage and assist in the acquiring, constructing, reconstructing, 
improving, maintaining, equipping and furnishing of manufacturing, warehousing, research, commercial 
and industrial facilities, among others, for the purpose of promoting, attracting and developing 
economically sound commerce and industry to advance the job opportunities, health, general prosperity and 
economic welfare of the people of the State of New York, to improve their prosperity and standard of living, 
and to prevent unemployment and economic deterioration; and 



 
- 2 - 

65617691v2 012014.00006 

 
WHEREAS, subsection (4) of Section 874 of the Act, as added by Chapters 356 and 357 of the 

Laws of 1993 of the State of New York, requires that the Agency establish a uniform tax exemption policy, 
with input from affected tax jurisdictions, providing for guidelines for the claiming of real property, 
mortgage recording and sales tax exemptions; and 

 
WHEREAS, after soliciting input from the affected tax jurisdictions within Albany County, New 

York, the Agency adopted a uniform tax exemption policy, as amended (as so amended, the “Existing 
UTEP”); and 

 
WHEREAS, members and staff of the Agency conducted a review of the Existing UTEP related to 

the current needs and expectations of the Agency (the “Review”); and 
 
WHEREAS, as provided in the Agency’s Governance Committee Charter, the members of the 

Governance Committee reviewed the Existing UTEP and made certain recommendations to the full board 
of the Agency regarding amending the Existing UTEP; and 
 

WHEREAS, in connection with the Review and the Governance Committee’s recommendation, 
the Agency desired to consider making certain revisions to its Existing UTEP (the “Proposed 
Amendments”); and 

 
WHEREAS, a description of the Proposed Amendments is attached hereto as Exhibit A; and 
 
WHEREAS, by resolution adopted by the members of the Agency on June 5, 2024 (the “Public 

Hearing Resolution”), the Agency authorized a public hearing to be held pursuant to Section 874(4) of the 
Act with respect to the Proposed Amendments; and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the authorization contained in the Public Hearing Resolution, the Chief 
Executive Officer of the Agency (A) caused notice of a public hearing of the Agency pursuant to Section 
874(4) of the Act (the “Public Hearing”) to hear all persons interested in the Proposed Amendments being 
contemplated by the Agency with respect to the Existing UTEP, to be posted on July 17, 2024 on a bulletin 
board located at the Town of New Scotland Town Hall located at 2029 New Scotland Road in the Town of 
New Scotland, Albany County, New York and on July 12, 2024 on the Agency’s website, (B) caused notice 
of the Public Hearing to be published on July 12, 2024 in the Times Union, a newspaper of general 
circulation available to the residents of the Albany County, New York, (C) conducted the Public Hearing 
on July 24, 2024 at 5:30 o’clock p.m., local time at the Town of New Scotland Town Hall located at 2029 
New Scotland Road in the Town of New Scotland, Albany County, New York, and (D) prepared a report 
of the Public Hearing (the “Report”) which fairly summarized the views presented at said public hearing 
and distributed same to the members of the Agency; and 
 

WHEREAS, the members of the Agency desire to approve the Proposed Amendments to the 
Existing UTEP, as more particularly described on Exhibit A attached hereto, (the Existing UTEP, as 
amended, the “Amended UTEP”); 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MEMBERS OF ALBANY COUNTY 
INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. The Agency makes the following findings and determinations with respect to the 
Amended UTEP: 
 



 
- 3 - 

65617691v2 012014.00006 

(A) The adoption by the Agency of the Amended UTEP constitutes continuing agency 
administration and management (not new programs or a major reordering of priorities), and is 
therefore a “Type II action” under Article 8 of the Environmental Conservation Law, Chapter 43-
B of the Consolidated Laws of New York, as amended (the “SEQR Act”), and the regulations 
adopted pursuant thereto by the Department of Environment Conservation of the State of New 
York, being 6 NYCRR Part 617, as amended (the “Regulations”) (the SEQR Act and the 
Regulations being collectively referred to as “SEQRA”) and, according, no further action by the 
Agency under SEQRA is required;  

 
(B) By virtue of the Act, the Agency has been vested with all powers necessary and 

convenient to carry out and effectuate the purposes and provisions of the Act and to exercise all 
powers granted to it under the Act;  

 
(C) The Agency has reviewed a copy of the Amended UTEP. The Agency believes 

that adoption of the Amended UTEP will promote and maintain the job opportunities, general 
prosperity and economic welfare of the citizens of Albany County, New York and the State of New 
York and improve their standard of living; 

 
(D) It is desirable and in the public interest for the Agency to adopt the Amended 

UTEP; and 
 
(E) The Agency has taken the steps described below in connection with the adoption 

of the Amended UTEP: 
 

(i) The Agency has conducted the Public Hearing on ten (10) days notice to 
the public and the Affected Tax Jurisdictions (as defined in the Act). 

 
(ii) The Agency has reviewed all comments received at the Public Hearing 

and all written comments received by the Agency from the Affected Tax Jurisdictions 
regarding the Amended UTEP; and 

 
(iii) The Agency has given all representatives from any Affected Tax 

Jurisdictions in attendance at this meeting the opportunity to address the members of the 
Agency regarding the Amended UTEP. 

 
Section 2. The form, terms and substance of the Amended UTEP are hereby approved in all 

respects. 
 

Section 3. The Agency hereby authorizes the Chairperson, Vice Chairperson and the Chief 
Executive Officer of the Agency to take all steps necessary to implement the Amended UTEP. 
 

Section 4. This resolution shall take effect immediately. 
 



 
- 4 - 

65617691v2 012014.00006 

The question of the adoption of the foregoing resolution was duly put to a vote on roll call, which 
resulted as follows: 
 

Hon. William M. Clay VOTING __________ 
Michael Paparian VOTING __________ 
Marlene McTigue VOTING __________ 
Anton Dreslin VOTING __________ 
William Murphy VOTING __________ 
Paul Nylin VOTING __________ 
Hon. Wanda Willingham VOTING __________ 

 
The foregoing resolution was thereupon declared duly adopted. 

 
[remainder of the page left blank intentionally] 



 
- 5 - 

65617691v2 012014.00006 

STATE OF NEW YORK ) 
 ) SS.: 
COUNTY OF ALBANY ) 
 
 

I, the undersigned (Assistant) Secretary of Albany County Industrial Development Agency (the 
“Agency”), DO HEREBY CERTIFY that I have compared the foregoing annexed extract of the minutes of 
the meeting of the members of the Agency, including the Resolution contained therein, held on September 
4, 2024 with the original thereof on file in my office, and that the same is a true and correct copy of said 
original and of such Resolution contained therein and of the whole of said original so far as the same relates 
to the subject matters therein referred to. 

 
I FURTHER CERTIFY that (A) all members of the Agency had due notice of said meeting; 

(B) said meeting was in all respects duly held; (C) pursuant to Article 7 of the Public Officers Law (the 
“Open Meetings Law”), said meeting was open to the general public, and due notice of the time and place 
of said meeting was duly given in accordance with such Open Meetings Law; and (D) there was a quorum 
of the members of the Agency present throughout said meeting. 
 

I FURTHER CERTIFY that, as of the date hereof, the attached Resolution is in full force and effect 
and has not been amended, repealed or rescinded. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the seal of the Agency this 
_____ day of September, 2024. 
 
 

_____________________________________ 
(Assistant) Secretary 

 
 
 
(SEAL) 



 

A-1 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE AGENCY’S 
UNIFORM TAX EXEMPTION POLICY 

 
- SEE ATTACHED – 

  



 

A-2 
 

PART 18 
 

UNIFORM TAX EXEMPTION POLICY 
 
 
SECTION 1801.  PURPOSE AND AUTHORITY.  Pursuant to Section 874(4)(a) of Title One of Article 
18-A of the General Municipal Law (the “Act”), Albany County Industrial Development Agency is required 
to establish a uniform tax exemption policy applicable to the provision of any financial assistance of more 
than one hundred thousand dollars to any project. 
 
SECTION 1802.  DEFINITIONS.  All words and terms used herein and defined in the Act shall have the 
meanings assigned to them in the Act, unless otherwise defined herein or unless the context or use indicates 
another meaning or intent.  The following words and terms used herein shall have the respective meanings 
set forth below, unless the context or use indicates another meaning or intent: 
 

(A) “Administrative fee” shall mean a charge imposed by the Agency to an applicant or project 
occupant for the administration of project. 
 

(B) “Affected Tax Jurisdiction” shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Section 854(16) of the 
Act. 

 
(BC) “Agency fee” shall mean the normal charges imposed by the Agency on an applicant or a 

project occupant to compensate the Agency for the Agency’s participation in a project.  The term “Agency 
fee” shall include not only the Agency’s normal Administrative fee, but also may include (1) reimbursement 
of the Agency’s expenses, (2) rent imposed by the Agency for use of the property of the Agency, and (3) 
other similar charges imposed by the Agency. 
 

(CD) “Applicant” shall mean an applicant for financial assistance. 
 

(DE) “City” shall mean any city located in the County. 
 

(EF) “County” shall mean the County of Albany. 
 

(FG) “PILOT” or “Payment in Lieu of Tax” shall mean any payment made to the Agency or an 
affected tax jurisdiction equal to all or a portion of the real property taxes or other taxes which would have 
been levied by or on behalf of an affected tax jurisdiction with respect to a project but for tax exemption 
obtained by reason of the involvement of the Agency in such project, but such term shall not include Agency 
fees. 
 

(GH) “School District” shall mean any school district located in the County. 
 

(HI) “Tax exemption” shall mean any financial assistance granted to a project which is based 
upon all or a portion of the taxes which would otherwise be levied and assessed against a project but for the 
involvement of the Agency. 
 

(IJ) “Town” shall mean any town located in the County. 
 
(JK) “Village” shall mean any village located in the County. 

 
SECTION 1803.  GENERAL PROVISIONS.  (A) General Policy.  The general policy of the Agency is to 
grant tax exemption as hereinafter set forth to any project which has been or will be (1) financed by the 



 

A-3 
 

issuance by the Agency of bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness with respect thereto or (2) 
otherwise assisted by the Agency pursuant to a straight lease transaction (as defined under Section 854(15) 
of the Act). 
 

(B) Exceptions.  The Agency intends to follow the general policy enunciated under subsection 
(A) of this Section absent special circumstances.  The Agency reserves the right to deviate from such policy 
in special circumstances.  In determining whether special circumstances exist to justify such a deviation, 
the Agency may consider factors which make the project unusual, which factors might include but not be 
limited to the following factors:  (1) the magnitude and/or importance of any permanent private sector job 
creation and/or retention related to project; (2) whether the affected tax jurisdictionsAffected Tax 
Jurisdictions will be reimbursed by the project occupant if the project does not fulfill the purposes for which 
tax exemption was granted; (3) the impact of the project on existing and proposed businesses and/or 
economic development projects; (4) the amount of private sector investment generated or likely to be 
generated by the project; (5) demonstrated public support for the project; (6) the estimated value of the tax 
exemptions requested; and (7) the extent to which the proposed project will provide needed services and/or 
revenues to the affected tax jurisdictionsAffected Tax Jurisdictions.  In addition, the Agency may consider 
the other factors outlined in Section 874(4)(a) of the Act. 
 

(C) Application.  No request for a tax exemption shall be considered by the Agency unless an 
application and environmental assessment form are filed with the Agency on the forms prescribed by the 
Agency pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Agency.  Such application shall contain the information 
requested by the Agency, including a description of the proposed project and of each tax exemption sought 
with respect to the project, the estimated value of each tax exemption sought with respect to the project, the 
proposed financial assistance being sought with respect to the project, the estimated date of completion of 
the project, an analysis of the costs and benefits of the project, and whether such financial assistance is 
consistent with this part. 
 
SECTION 1804.  SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION.  (A) General.  State law provides that purchases 
of tangible personal property by the Agency or by an agent of the Agency, and purchases of tangible 
personal property by a contractor for incorporation into or improving, maintaining, servicing or repairing 
real property of the Agency, are exempt from sales and use taxes imposed pursuant to Article 28 of the Tax 
Law.  The Agency has a general policy of abating sales taxes applicable only to the initial acquisition, 
construction, reconstruction and/or equipping of each project with respect to which the Agency grants 
financial assistance.  The Agency has no requirement for imposing a payment in lieu of tax arising from 
the exemption of a project from sales and/or use taxes applicable to the initial acquisition, construction, 
reconstruction and/or equipping of such project, except (1) as described in subsection (E) below or (2) in 
the circumstance where (a) a project is offered sales tax exemption on the condition that a certain event 
(such as the issuance of bonds by the Agency with respect to the project) occur by a certain date and (b) 
such event does not occur, in which case the Agency may require that the applicant make payments in lieu 
of sales tax to the New York State Department of Taxation and Finance. 
 

(B) Period of Exemption.  Except as set forth in subsection (A) above, the period of time for 
which a sales tax exemption shall be effective (the “tax exemption period”) shall be determined as follows: 
 

(1) General.  Unless otherwise determined by the Agency, the tax exemption for sales 
and use taxes shall be for the tax exemption period commencing with the issuance by the Agency 
of bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness with respect to the project and ending on the 
date of completion of the project.   

 
(2) Early Commencement.  The tax exemption period may, at the discretion of the 

Agency, commence earlier than (i) the date of issuance by the Agency of the Agency’s debt relating 



 

A-4 
 

to the project or (ii) the execution and delivery of the straight lease transaction, provided that (a) 
the Agency has complied with the requirements of Section 859-a of the Act, (b) the Agency 
thereafter adopts a resolution determining to commence such period earlier, said resolution to be 
substantially in the form of Appendix 18A attached hereto, (c) the applicant agrees to the conditions 
of such resolution and supplies to the Agency the materials required to be supplied to the Agency 
thereunder, and (d) the Chairman of the Agency acknowledges satisfaction of all conditions to the 
granting of such tax exemption set forth in such resolution. 

 
(3) Normal Termination.  The tax exemption period will normally end upon the 

completion of the project.  On construction projects, the parties shall agree on the estimated date 
of completion of the project, and the tax exemption shall cease on the earlier of (a) the actual date 
of completion of the project or (b) the date which is six (6) months after the estimated date of such 
project.  On non-construction project, the parties shall agree on the estimated date of completion of 
the project, and the tax exemption shall cease on the earlier of (a) the actual date of completion of 
the project or (b) the date which is three (3) months after the estimated date of completion of the 
project.  If the Agency and the applicant shall fail to agree on a date for completion of the project, 
the Agency shall on notice to the applicant make the determination on the basis of available 
evidence. 

 
(4) Later Termination.  The Agency, for good cause shown, may adopt a resolution 

extending the period for completion of the project and/or extending the tax exemption period. 
 

(C) Items Exempted.  The sales and use tax exemption granted by the Agency shall normally 
extend only to the following items acquired during the tax exemption period described in subsection (B) 
above: 
 

(1) items incorporated into the real property;  
 

(2) tangible personal property, including furniture, furnishings and equipment used to 
initially equip the project or otherwise forming part of the project, if purchased as agent of the 
Agency; 

 
(3) the rental of tools and other items necessary for the construction, reconstruction 

and/or equipping of the project, if rented as agent of the Agency; and  
 

(4) office supplies, fuel and similar items consumed in the process of acquiring, 
constructing, reconstructing and/or equipping the project, if purchased as agent of the Agency. 

 
(D) Items Not Exempted.  A sales and use tax exemption shall not be granted for the following: 

 
(1) purchases occurring beyond the tax exemption period described in subsection (B) 

above;  
 

(2) repairs, replacements or renovations of the project, unless such repairs, 
replacements or renovations constitute major capital-type expenses approved by the Agency as a 
separate project in the manner contemplated by the Act; or  

 
(3) operating expenses, unless such operating expenses constitute major capital-type 

expenses approved by the Agency as a separate project in the manner contemplated by the Act. 
 



 

A-5 
 

(E) Percentage of Exemption.  Unless otherwise determined by resolution of the Agency, the 
sales and use tax exemption shall be equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the sales and/or use taxes that 
would have been levied if the project were not exempt by reason of the Agency’s involvement in the project.  
If an exemption of less than one hundred percent (100%) is determined by the Agency, then the applicant 
shall be required to pay a PILOT to the Agency equal to the applicable percentage of sales and/or use tax 
liability not being abated.  The Agency shall remit such PILOT within thirty (30) days of receipt by the 
Agency to the affected tax jurisdictionsAffected Tax Jurisdictions in accordance with Section 874(3) of the 
Act. 
 

(F) Confirmation Letter.  The final act of granting a sales and/or use tax exemption by the 
Agency shall be confirmed by the execution by an authorized officer of the Agency of a confirmation letter 
by the Agency.  Such confirmation letter shall be in the form of either Appendix 18B (where the exemption 
is permanent, because the Agency is satisfied that any conditions precedent to such tax exemption, such as 
the issuance of bonds by the Agency, have been satisfied) or Appendix 18C (where such exemption is 
tentative, because there remain conditions precedent to such tax exemption which have not been satisfied).  
Each such confirmation letter shall describe the scope and term of the sales and use tax exemption being 
granted. 
 

(G) Required Filings.  (1) The New York State Department of Taxation and Finance requires 
that proper forms and supporting materials be filed with a vendor to establish a purchaser’s entitlement to 
a sales tax exemption.  For example, TSB-M-87(7) outlines the materials that must be filed to establish 
entitlement to sales tax exemption as “agent” of the Agency.  It is the responsibility of the applicant and/or 
project occupant to ensure that the proper documentation is filed with each vendor to obtain any sales tax 
exemptions authorized by the Agency. 
 

(2) Pursuant to Section 874(9) of the Act, the Agency is required to file within thirty 
(30) days of the date that the Agency designates an applicant to act as agent of the Agency a New 
York State Department of Taxation and Finance form ST-60.  The form identifies the agent of the 
Agency, provides a brief description of the project and an estimate of the value of the sales tax 
exemption and certain other information.  The project documents shall require the applicant to 
assist the Agency in completing the form. 

 
(H) Required Reports and Records.  Pursuant to Section 874(8), the applicant and/or project 

occupant is required to annually file with the New York State Department of Taxation and Finance a 
statement of the value of all sales and use tax exemptions claimed under the Act by the applicant and/or the 
project occupant and/or all agents, subcontractors and consultants thereof.  The project documents shall 
require that (1) a copy of such statement will also be filed with the Agency and (2) that the project occupant 
shall maintain, for a period ending seven (7) years after the last purchase made under the sales and use tax 
exemption, and make available to the Agency at the request of the Agency, detailed records which shall 
show the method of calculating the sales and use tax exemption benefit granted by the Agency. 
 
SECTION 1805.  MORTGAGE RECORDING TAX EXEMPTION.  (A) General.  State law provides that 
mortgages recorded by the Agency are exempt from mortgage recording taxes imposed pursuant to Article 
11 of the Tax Law.  The Agency has a general policy of abating mortgage recording taxes for the initial 
financing obtained from the Agency with respect to each project with respect to which the Agency issues 
debt which will be secured by a mortgage upon real property.  In instances where the initial financing 
commitment provides for a construction financing of the Agency to be replaced by a permanent financing 
of the Agency immediately upon the completion of the project, the Agency’s general policy is to abate the 
mortgage recording tax on both the construction financing and the permanent financing. 
 



 

A-6 
 

(B) Refinancing.  In the event that the Agency retains title to a project, it is the general 
policy of the Agency to abate mortgage recording taxes on any debt issued by the Agency for the 
purpose of refinancing prior debt issued by the Agency, and on any modifications, extensions and 
renewals thereof, so long as the Agency fees relating to the same have been paid. 

 
(C) Non-Agency Projects.  In the event that the Agency does not hold title to a project, 

it is the policy of the Agency not to join in a mortgage relating to that project and not to abate any 
mortgage recording taxes relating to that project. 

 
(D) Non-Agency Financings.  Occasionally, a situation will arise where the Agency 

holds title to a project, the project occupant needs to borrow money for its own purposes (working 
capital, for example), and the lender will not make the loan to the project occupant without 
obtaining a fee mortgage as security.  In such instances, the policy of the Agency is to consent to 
the granting of such mortgage and to join in such mortgage, so long as the following conditions are 
met: 
 

(1) the documents relating to such proposed mortgage make it clear that the Agency 
is not liable on the debt, and that any liability of the Agency on the mortgage is limited to the 
Agency’s interest in the project; 

 
(2) the granting of the mortgage is permitted under any existing documents relating to 

the project, and any necessary consents relating thereto have been obtained by the project occupant; 
and 

 
(3) the payment of the Agency fee relating to the same. 

 
(E) Exemption Affidavit.  The act of granting a mortgage recording tax exemption by the 

Agency is confirmed by the execution by an authorized officer of the Agency of an exemption affidavit 
relating thereto.  A sample exemption affidavit is attached as Appendix 18D. 
 

(F) PILOT Payments.  If the Agency is a party to a mortgage that is not to be granted a 
mortgage recording tax exemption by the Agency (a “non-exempt mortgage”), then the applicant and/or 
project occupant or other person recording same shall pay the same mortgage recording taxes with respect 
to same as would have been payable had the Agency not been a party to said mortgage (the “normal 
mortgage tax”).  Such mortgage recording taxes are payable to the County Clerk of the County, who shall 
in turn distribute same in accordance with law.  If for any reason a non-exempt mortgage is to be recorded 
and the Agency is aware that such non-exempt mortgage may for any reason be recorded without the 
payment of the normal mortgage tax, then the Agency shall prior to executing such non-exempt mortgage 
collect a PILOT equal to the normal mortgage tax and remit same within thirty (30) days of receipt by the 
Agency to the affected tax jurisdictionAffected Tax Jurisdiction in accordance with Section 874(3) of the 
Act. 
 
SECTION 1806.  REAL ESTATE TRANSFER TAXES.  (A) Real Estate Transfer Tax.  Article 31 of the 
Tax Law provides for the imposition of a tax upon certain real estate transfers.  Section 1405(b)(2) of the 
Tax Law provides that transfers into the Agency are exempt from such tax, and the New York State 
Department of Taxation and Finance has ruled that transfers of property by the Agency back to the same 
entity which transferred such property to the Agency are exempt from such tax.  The general policy of the 
Agency is to impose no payment in lieu of tax upon any real estate transfers to or from the Agency. 
 



 

A-7 
 

(B) Required Filings.  It shall be the responsibility of the applicant and/or project occupant to 
ensure that all documentation necessary relative to the real estate transfer tax are timely filed with the 
appropriate officials. 

 
SECTION 1807.  REAL ESTATE TAX EXEMPTION.  (A) General.  Pursuant to Section 874 of the Act 
and Section 412-a of the Real Property Tax Law, property owned by or under the jurisdiction or supervision 
or control of the Agency is exempt from general real estate taxes (but not exempt from special assessments 
and special ad valorem levies).  However, it is the general policy of the Agency that, notwithstanding the 
foregoing, every non-governmental project will be required to enter into a payment in lieu of tax agreement 
(a “PILOT Agreement”), either separately or as part of the project documents.  Such PILOT Agreement 
shall require payment of PILOT payments in accordance with the provisions set forth below. 
 

(B) PILOT Requirement.  Unless the applicant and/or project occupant and the Agency shall 
have entered into a PILOT Agreement acceptable to the Agency, the project documents shall provide that 
the Agency will not file a New York State Department of Taxation and Finance, Division of Equalization 
and Assessment Form RP-412-a (an “Exemption Form”) with respect to the project, and the project 
documents shall provide that the applicant and/or the project occupant (each an “Applicant”) shall be 
required to make PILOT payments in such amounts as would result from taxes being levied on the project 
by the taxing jurisdictions if the project were not owned by or under the jurisdiction or supervision or 
control of the Agency.  The project documents shall provide that, if the Agency and the applicant and/or 
project occupant haveApplicant has entered into a PILOT Agreement, the terms of the PILOT Agreement 
shall control the amount of PILOT payments until the expiration or sooner termination of such agreement. 
 

(C) PILOT Agreement.  Unless otherwise determined by resolution of the Agency, all PILOT 
Agreements shall satisfy the following general conditions: 
 

(1) Determination of Full Assessment: With respect to a project including new 
construction, the general policy of the Agency is to take title to (or a leasehold interest in) said 
project and to file an Exemption Form providing that the appropriate officer or officers of the 
respective Affected Tax Jurisdictions in which such project is located (each an “Assessor”), with 
cooperation of the Agency as further set forth in Section 1807(C)(3) below, will determine, prior 
to closing, the initial assessment of such project prior to beginning construction related to the 
Agency project (the “Initial New Assessment”) and an estimate of the final assessment thereof 
based on projected value upon completion of construction (the “Final New Assessment”). With 
respect to a project including existing buildings, the general policy of the Agency is to either avoid 
taking title to (or a leasehold interest in) such existing buildings, or, if such is not possible, to not 
apply the abatement schedules listed in Section 1807(C)(2) below to the existing assessment on 
such buildings (the “Existing Assessment,” and collectively with the Initial New Assessment, the 
“Full Assessment, and collectively with the Final New Assessment, the “Final Full Assessment”). 
Once the Final Full Assessment is determined, the Final Full Assessment shall be frozen and used 
as the basis of taxation of the project for the initial period (the “Initial Period”) applicable pursuant 
to Section 1807(C)(2) below.  During the Initial Period, an Applicant shall pay PILOT Payments 
determined in each tax year as follows: 

 
(a) with respect to a project including new construction, the PILOT Payment shall 

be equal to the sum of the Normal Tax Payment and the Abated PILOT Payment (each as 
defined herein) and shall be calculated as follows: (i) first determine the Initial New 
Assessment, (ii) next determine the Final New Assessment, (iii) next determine the portion 
of the Final New Assessment attributable to the completion of the project by subtracting 
the Initial New Assessment from the Final New Assessment (the “Current PILOT 
Assessment”), (iv) multiply the Initial New Assessment by the applicable tax rate of each 



 

A-8 
 

Affected Tax Jurisdiction (the “Normal Tax Payment”), (v) multiply the Current PILOT 
Assessment by the applicable tax rate of each Affected Tax Jurisdiction (the “Initial PILOT 
Payment”), and (vi) multiply the Initial PILOT Payment by the percentage of abatement 
applicable to such year (as determined pursuant to Section 1807(C)(2) below) (the “Abated 
PILOT Payment”); and 

 
(b) with respect to a project including existing buildings, the PILOT Payment 

shall be equal to the sum of the Normal Tax Payment and the Abated PILOT Payment 
(each as defined herein) and shall be calculated as follows: (i) first determine the Full 
Assessment, (ii) next determine the Final New Assessment, (iii) next determine the portion 
of the Final Full Assessment attributable to the completion of the project by subtracting the 
Final New Assessment from the Final Full Assessment (the “Current PILOT Assessment”), 
(iv) multiply the Final Full Assessment by the applicable tax rate of each Affected Tax 
Jurisdiction (the “Normal Tax Payment”), (v) multiply the Current PILOT Assessment by 
the applicable tax rate of each Affected Tax Jurisdiction (the “Initial PILOT Payment”), 
and (vi) multiply the Initial PILOT Payment by the percentage of abatement applicable to 
such year (as determined pursuant to Section 1807(C)(2) below) (the “Abated PILOT 
Payment”). 
 
(12) Amount of Abatement:  (A) The general policy of the Agency is not to provide the 

applicant and/or project occupant with any abatement other than abatements allowed under Section 
485-b of the Real Property Tax Law and applicable ordinances and local laws of the City, Town or 
Village in which the project is located.  Accordingly, the amount of any PILOT payment would 
equal the amount of taxes that would be levied on the project by the affected taxing jurisdictions if 
the project were not owned by or under the jurisdiction or supervision or control of the Agency.  If 
an applicant or project occupant desires to obtain an exemption under Section 485-b or any other 
abatement provided by State and/or local law, it is the responsibility of the applicant and/or project 
occupant to apply for same.The percentage of abatement applicable to a project shall normally be 
computed in accordance with one of the categories (each a “Category”) outlined on the table 
attached hereto as Schedule A.  The staff of the Agency (the “Staff”) will review each project based 
on various factors including, but not limited to, the factors listed on the Uniform Tax Exemption 
Matrix attached hereto as Schedule B.  The Staff shall conduct said review with cooperation from 
the related Affected Tax Jurisdictions. The Staff shall then prepare a written recommendation (the 
“Staff Recommendation”) to the board of directors of the Agency (the “Board”) which such Staff 
Recommendation shall (a) recommend one of the following Categories of abatement for the project, 
(b) indicate the factors considered by the Staff in selecting the recommended Category, and (c) 
confirm that the Staff communicated with the Affected Tax Jurisdictions regarding the review of 
the project and the recommended Category. 

 
(2) Special District Taxes.  As indicated above, the Agency is not exempt from special 

assessments and special ad valorem levies, and accordingly these amounts are not subject to 
abatement by reason of ownership of the Project by the Agency.  The PILOT Agreement shall make 
this clear and shall require that all such amounts be directly paid by the applicant and/or project 
occupant. 

(3) Payee.  Unless otherwise determined by resolution of the Agency, all PILOT 
payments payable to an affected tax jurisdiction shall be assessed, billed and collected directly by 
the same officials which assess, bill and collect normal taxes levied by such affected tax 
jurisdiction.  Pursuant to Section 874(3) of the Act, such PILOT payments shall be remitted to each 
affected tax jurisdiction within thirty (30) days of receipt.Fixed Payments:  With respect to all 
projects, the general policy of the Agency shall be to consult with the related Assessors to determine 
the Final Full Assessment (and related components) and the PILOT Payment for the life of the 



 

A-9 
 

project.  The PILOT Payment shall be calculated as a fixed payment schedule based on forward 
looking estimates, prepared by the related Assessor at or prior to the closing of the project, of (a) 
the Final Full Assessment, (b) the applicable tax rate of each Affected Tax Jurisdiction for each 
year, and (c) based on the estimated Final Full Assessment and tax rates, the PILOT Payment. 

 
(4) Enforcement.  An affected tax jurisdiction which has not received a PILOT 

payment due to it under a PILOT Agreement may exercise its remedies under Section 874(6) of the 
Act.  In addition, such affected tax jurisdiction may petition the Agency to exercise whatever 
remedies that the Agency may have under the project documents to enforce payment and, if such 
affected tax jurisdiction indemnifies the Agency and agrees to pay the Agency’s costs incurred in 
connection therewith, the Agency may take action to enforce the PILOT Agreement. 

(5) Local Approval.  Prior to entering into any proposed PILOT Agreement, the 
Agency shall, in its sole and absolute discretion, attempt to obtain written consent of the PILOT 
Agreement from all of the affected tax jurisdictions.  Any such approval shall be evidenced by a 
resolution of the governing boards of each town, village and school district in which the Project is 
located, and the County Executive with respect to the County, in each case, in form and substance 
satisfactory to the Agency.  In the event that the Agency is not able to obtain the consents of all the 
affected tax jurisdictions to the proposed PILOT Agreement, the Agency may enter into such 
PILOT Agreement without the consents of such affected tax jurisdictions. 
(D) Required Filings.  As indicated in subsection (B) above, pursuant to Section 874 of the Act 

and Section 412-a of the Real Property Tax Law, no real estate tax exemption with respect to a particular 
project shall be effective until an exemption form is filed with the assessor of each county, city, town, 
village and school district in which such project is located (each, a “Taxing Jurisdiction”).  Once an 
exemption form with respect to a particular project is filed with a particular Taxing Jurisdiction, the real 
property tax exemption for such project does not take effect until (1) a tax status date for such Taxing 
Jurisdiction occurs subsequent to such filing, (2) an assessment roll for such Taxing Jurisdiction is finalized 
subsequent to such tax status date, (3) such assessment roll becomes the basis for the preparation of a tax 
roll for such Taxing Jurisdiction, and (4) the tax year to which such tax roll relates commences. 
 

(E) Real Property Appraisals.  Since the policy of the Agency stated in subsection (C)(1) is to 
base the value of a project for payment in lieu of tax purposes on a valuation of such project performed by 
the Assessor of the applicable Taxing Jurisdiction, normally a separate real property appraisal is not 
required.  However, the Agency may require the submission of a real property appraisal if (1) the assessor 
of any particular Taxing Jurisdiction requires one or (2) if the valuation of the project for payment in lieu 
of tax purposes is based on a value determined by the applicantApplicant or by someone acting on behalf 
of the applicantApplicant, rather than by an assessor for a Taxing Jurisdiction or by the Agency.  If the 
Agency requires the submission of a real property appraisal, such appraisal shall be prepared by an 
independent MAI certified appraiser acceptable to the Agency. 

 
(F) PILOT Expiration.  Pursuant to Section 858(15) of the Act, as amended, the Agency shall 

deliver a notification to the affected tax jurisdictionsAffected Tax Jurisdictions regarding the termination 
of each PILOT Agreement (1) two (2) years prior to the schedule expiration of the PILOT Agreement or 
(2) immediately upon any early termination of the PILOT Agreement. 
 

(G) Miscellaneous. 
 

(1) Special District Taxes.  As indicated above, the Agency is not exempt from special 
assessments and special ad valorem levies, and accordingly these amounts are not subject to 
abatement by reason of ownership of the Project by the Agency.  The PILOT Agreement shall make 
this clear and shall require that all such amounts be directly paid by the Applicant to the Affected 
Taxing Jurisdictions. 



 

A-10 
 

 
(2) Payee.  Unless otherwise determined by resolution of the Agency, all PILOT 

payments payable to an Affected Tax Jurisdiction shall be assessed, billed and collected directly 
by the same officials which assess, bill and collect normal taxes levied by such Affected Tax 
Jurisdiction.  Pursuant to Section 874(3) of the Act, such PILOT payments shall be remitted to each 
Affected Tax Jurisdiction within thirty (30) days of receipt. 

 
(3) Enforcement.  An Affected Tax Jurisdiction which has not received a PILOT 

payment due to it under a PILOT Agreement may exercise its remedies under Section 874(6) of the 
Act.  In addition, such Affected Tax Jurisdiction may petition the Agency to exercise whatever 
remedies that the Agency may have under the project documents to enforce payment and, if such 
Affected Tax Jurisdiction indemnifies the Agency and agrees to pay the Agency’s costs incurred 
in connection therewith, the Agency may take action to enforce the PILOT Agreement. 

 
SECTION 1808.  PROCEDURES FOR DEVIATION.  (A) General.  In the case where the Agency shall 
determine that any policy of the Agency as herein established is inappropriate or unfair, the Agency may 
determine: 
 

(1) (1) the amount of the tax exemption, the amount and nature of the PILOT, the duration 
of the exemption and of the PILOT and whether or not an exemption of any kind shall be granted 
and shall impose such terms and conditions as shall be just and proper; and 

 
(2) the Agency shall give written notice of the proposed deviation from the policy set 

forth herein to each affected Taxing Jurisdiction setting forth the terms and conditions of the 
deviation and the reasons therefor.  Such notice to the affected tax jurisdictionsAffected Tax 
Jurisdictions shall be given to the chief executive officer of each affected tax jurisdictionAffected 
Tax Jurisdiction via certified mail, return receipt requested, or via an electronic correspondence 
with a read-receipt.  With respect to any school districts, the chief executive officer shall include 
(a) the president of the board of education of the school district (b) the superintendent of the school 
district, and (c) the district clerk of the school district.  Prior to taking any final action on a proposed 
deviation, the Agency shall review and respond to any correspondence received from any affected 
tax jurisdictionAffected Tax Jurisdiction regarding the proposed deviation and allow any 
representative of an affected tax jurisdictionAffected Tax Jurisdiction present at such meeting to 
address the Agency regarding the proposed deviation. 

 
(B) Troubled Projects.  Where a project is owned and operated by the Agency or has been 

acquired by the Agency for its own account after a failure of a project occupant, the project shall at the 
option of the Agency be exempt from all taxes in accordance with law. 
 

(C) Unusual Projects.  Where a project is unusual in nature and requires special considerations 
related to its successful operations as demonstrated by appropriate evidence presented to the Agency, the 
Agency shall consider the granting of a deviation from the established exemption policy in accordance with 
the procedures provided in the title.  The Agency may authorize a minimum payment in lieu of tax or such 
other arrangement as may be appropriate. 
 
SECTION 1809.  ANNUAL REVIEW OF POLICIES.  (A) General.  At least annually, the Agency shall 
review its tax exemption policies to determine relevance, compliance with law, effectiveness, and shall 
adopt any modifications or changes that it shall deem appropriate.  Unless otherwise provided by resolution, 
such annual review shall take place at the regular June meeting of the Agency, notice for comments on such 
policies shall be circulated as provided by law for input from Albany County and all the other affected tax 
jurisdictionsAffected Tax Jurisdictions, and adoption of any changes shall take effect upon approval by the 



 

A-11 
 

Agency.  The Chairman shall be responsible for conducting an annual review of the tax exemption policy 
and for an evaluation of the internal control structure established to ensure compliance with the tax 
exemption policy which shall be submitted to the Agency for approval. 



 

A-12 
 

SCHEDULE A 
 

ABATEMENT CATEGORIES 
 

Tax Year 
Category 1 

Percentage of 
Exemption 

Category 2 
Percentage of 

Exemption 

Category 3 
Percentage of 

Exemption 
1 100% 100% 100% 
2 90% 93% 95% 
3 80% 86% 90% 
4 70% 79% 85% 
5 60% 72% 80% 
6 50% 65% 75% 
7 40% 58% 70% 
8 30% 51% 65% 
9 20% 44% 60% 
10 10% 37% 55% 
11 Normal Taxes 30% 50% 
12 Normal Taxes 23% 45% 
13 Normal Taxes 16% 40% 
14 Normal Taxes 9% 35% 
15 Normal Taxes 2% 30% 
16 Normal Taxes Normal Taxes 25% 
17 Normal Taxes Normal Taxes 20% 
18 Normal Taxes Normal Taxes 15% 
19 Normal Taxes Normal Taxes 10% 
20 Normal Taxes Normal Taxes 5% 
21 Normal Taxes Normal Taxes Normal Taxes 

 
 



 

A-13 
 

SCHEDULE B 
 

UNIFORM TAX EXEMPTION MATRIX 
 
 The factors to be considered by the Staff in order to complete the Staff Recommendation may 
include, but shall not be limited to, the following: 
 

1. The projected number of new permanent full-time equivalent (FTE) jobs to be created by the 
project. 

2. The number of FTE jobs to be retained by the project. 

3. The projected number of potential spin-off jobs to be created by the project. 

4. The projected wages to be paid to employees at the project based on estimated wages and benefits 
at project completion: 

a. Whether any of the FTE jobs will be paid at minimum wage; 

b. Whether the FTE jobs will be paid at or above the standard living wage for Albany County, 
New York.  Living Wage shall be equal to MIT Living Wage for Albany County for the 
applicable year. 

5. The percentage of construction labor which will be completed using local labor. 

6. The percentage of construction labor which will be completed using minority-and-women-owned 
business enterprises. 

7. The impact the project will have on local businesses and the surrounding community: 

a. Whether the project will utilize local industrial suppliers and raw services/materials; 

b. The extent to which the project will impact local emergency response services, schools, 
etc.; 

c. Whether the project is located in a “highly distressed area” as defined in Section 854(18) 
of the Act. 

8. The environmental impact of the project: 

a. Whether the project is located at an existing industrial site or brownfield; 

b. Whether the project is utilizing a shovel-ready site; 

c. Whether the project is using energy-efficient technology or significant renewable energy; 

d. Whether the project applicant participates in extended producer responsibility (“EPR”) 
programs and actively promotes the proper disposal and/or recycling of the materials to be 
produced at the project. 

9. The investment by the project in local education or workforce: 

a. Whether the FTE jobs to be created at the project require advance educational credentials; 

b. Whether the FTE positions will include technical degrees; 

c. Whether the project will provide apprenticeship programs or associate degrees. 

10. The value of the real property which is to be the subject of the PILOT Agreement. 

 
 



RESOLUTION CONFIRMING SEQR DETERMINATION 
ATLAS COPCO COMPTEC LLC PROJECT 

 
A regular meeting of the Albany County Industrial Development Agency (the “Agency”) was 

convened in public session in Suite 100 at 111 Washington Avenue in the City of Albany, Albany County, 
New York on September 4, 2024 at 6:00 o’clock p.m., local time. 
 

The meeting was called to order by the (Vice) Chairperson of the Agency and, upon roll being 
called, the following members of the Agency were: 
 
PRESENT: 
 

Hon. William M. Clay Chairperson 
Michael Paparian Vice Chairperson 
Marlene McTigue Secretary 
Anton Dreslin Assistant Secretary 
William Murphy Treasurer 
Paul Nylin Member 
Hon. Wanda Willingham Member 

 
ABSENT: 
 

  
  

 
AGENCY STAFF PRESENT INCLUDED THE FOLLOWING: 
 

Kevin O’Connor Chief Executive Officer 
Amy Thompson Chief Financial Officer 
Lucas Rogers Senior Policy Analyst 
Christopher C. Canada, Esq. Agency Counsel 

 
The following resolution was offered by __________________, seconded by 

__________________, to wit: 
 

Resolution No. 0924-___ 
 

RESOLUTION CONCURRING IN THE DETERMINATION BY VILLAGE OF 
VOORHEESVILLE, AS LEAD AGENCY FOR THE ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW OF 
THE ATLAS COPCO COMPTEC LLC PROPOSED PROJECT. 

 
WHEREAS, the Agency is authorized and empowered by the provisions of Chapter 1030 of the 

1969 Laws of New York, constituting Title 1 of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law, Chapter 24 of 
the Consolidated Laws of New York, as amended (the “Enabling Act”) and Chapter 178 of the 1975 Laws 
of New York, as amended, constituting Section 903-b of said General Municipal Law (said Chapter and the 
Enabling Act being hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Act”) to promote, develop, encourage and 
assist in the acquiring, constructing, reconstructing, improving, maintaining, equipping and furnishing of 
manufacturing, warehousing, research, commercial and industrial facilities, among others, for the purpose 
of promoting, attracting and developing economically sound commerce and industry to advance the job 
opportunities, health, general prosperity and economic welfare of the people of the State of New York, to 



 
- 2 - 

 

improve their prosperity and standard of living, and to prevent unemployment and economic deterioration; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, to accomplish its stated purposes, the Agency is authorized and empowered under the 
Act to acquire, construct and install one or more “ projects” (as defined in the Act) or to cause said projects 
to be acquired, constructed and installed, and to convey said projects or to lease said projects with the 
obligation to purchase; and 

 
WHEREAS, Atlas Copco Comptec LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Company”), 

submitted an application (the “Application”) to the Agency, a copy of which Application is on file at the 
office of the Agency, which Application requested that the Agency consider undertaking a project (the 
“Project”) for the benefit of the Company, said Project consisting of the following: (A) (1) the acquisition 
of an interest in an approximately 44.50 acre parcel of land located at 46 School Road (tax map no.: 61.18-
2-4.1) in the Village of Voorheesville, Town of New Scotland, Albany County, New York (the “Land”), 
together with the four (4) buildings containing in aggregate approximately 106,901 square feet of space 
located thereon (collectively, the “Existing Facility”), (2) the renovation of the Existing Facility and the 
construction on the Land of an approximately 51,000 square foot building (the “New Facility” and 
collectively with the Existing Facility, the “Facility”) and (3) the acquisition and installation therein and 
thereon of related fixtures, machinery, equipment and other tangible personal property, including without 
limitation, tenant improvement and finish (collectively, the “Equipment”) (the Land, the Facility, and the 
Equipment being collectively referred to as the “Project Facility”); all of the foregoing to constitute a 
manufacturing and engineering facility to be owned and operated by the Company for the manufacturing 
of integrally geared centrifugal compressors and other directly and indirectly related activities and uses; (B) 
the granting of certain “financial assistance” (within the meaning of Section 854(14) of the Act) with respect 
to the foregoing, including potential exemptions from certain sales and use taxes, real property taxes, real 
estate transfer taxes and mortgage recording taxes (collectively, the “Financial Assistance”); and (C) the 
lease (with an obligation to purchase) or sale of the Project Facility to the Company or such other person 
as may be designated by the Company and agreed upon by the Agency; and 

 
WHEREAS, by resolution adopted by the members of the Agency on June 5, 2024 (the “Public 

Hearing Resolution”), the Agency authorized a public hearing to be held pursuant to Section 859-a of the 
Act with respect to the Project; and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the authorization contained in the Public Hearing Resolution, the Chief 
Executive Officer of the Agency (A) caused notice of a public hearing of the Agency pursuant to Section 
859-a of the Act (the “Public Hearing”) to hear all persons interested in the Project and the Financial 
Assistance being contemplated by the Agency with respect to the Project, to be mailed on July 9, 2024 to 
the chief executive officers of the county and of each city, town, village and school district (collectively, 
the “Affected Tax Jurisdictions”) in which the Project is to be located, (B) caused notice of the Public 
Hearing to be posted on July 17, 2024 on a bulletin board located at the Town of New Scotland Town Hall 
located at 2029 New Scotland Road in the Town of New Scotland, Albany County, New York and on July 
12, 2024 on the Agency’s website, (C) caused notice of the Public Hearing to be published in the Times 
Union, a newspaper of general circulation available to the residents of the Albany County, New York, 
(D) conducted the Public Hearing at the Town of New Scotland Town Hall located at 2029 New Scotland 
Road in the Town of New Scotland, Albany County, New York, (E) prepared a report of the Public Hearing 
(the “Report”) which fairly summarized the views presented at said public hearing and distributed same to 
the members of the Agency, and (F) caused a copy of the certified Public Hearing Resolution to be mailed 
on June 7, 2024 to the Affected Tax Jurisdictions; and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Article 8 of the Environmental Conservation Law, Chapter 43-B of the 

Consolidated Laws of New York, as amended (the “SEQR Act”) and the regulations (the “Regulations”) 



 
- 3 - 

 

adopted pursuant thereto by the Department of Environmental Conservation of the State of New York 
(collectively with the SEQR Act, “SEQRA”), the Agency has been informed that (1) the Village of 
Voorheesville (the “Village”) was designated to act as “lead agency” with respect to the Project and (2) the 
Village issued a Determination of Non Significance on July 30, 2024 (the “Negative Declaration”), attached 
hereto as Exhibit A, with respect to the Project, determining that the acquisition, construction and 
installation of the Project Facility was a “Type 1” action (as such quoted term is defined in SEQRA) that 
would not have a significant impact on the environment and, therefore, did not require preparation of a 
Draft Environmental Impact Statement; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Agency is an “involved agency” with respect to the Project and the Agency now 

desires to (A) concur in the determination by the Village, as “lead agency” with respect to the Project, (B) 
acknowledge receipt of a copy of the Negative Declaration, and (C) indicate whether the Agency has any 
information to suggest that the Village was incorrect in determining that the Project will not have a 
“significant effect on the environment” pursuant to SEQRA and, therefore, that no environmental impact 
statement need be prepared with respect to the Project; 

  
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MEMBERS OF ALBANY COUNTY 

INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. The Agency has received copies of, and has reviewed, the Application, a full 
environmental assessment form and the Negative Declaration (collectively, the “Reviewed Documents”) 
and, based upon said Reviewed Documents, the Agency hereby ratifies and concurs in the designation of 
the Village as “lead agency” with respect to the Project under SEQRA (as such quoted term is defined in 
SEQRA). 

 
Section 2. The Agency hereby determines that the Agency has no information to suggest that 

the Village was incorrect in determining that the Project will not have a “significant effect on the 
environment” pursuant to the SEQRA and, therefore, that environmental impact statement need not be 
prepared with respect to the Project (as such quoted phrase is used in SEQRA). 
 

Section 3. The members of the Agency are hereby directed to notify the Village of the 
concurrence by the Agency that the Village shall be the “lead agency” with respect to the Project, and to 
further indicate to the Village that the Agency has no information to suggest that the Village was incorrect 
in its determinations contained in the Negative Declaration. 
 

Section 4. This resolution shall take effect immediately. 
 

The question of the adoption of the foregoing resolution was duly put to a vote on roll call, which 
resulted as follows: 

 
Hon. William M. Clay VOTING __________ 
Michael Paparian VOTING __________ 
Marlene McTigue VOTING __________ 
Anton Dreslin VOTING __________ 
William Murphy VOTING __________ 
Paul Nylin VOTING __________ 
Hon. Wanda Willingham VOTING __________ 

 
The foregoing resolution was thereupon declared duly adopted. 



 
- 4 - 

 

STATE OF NEW YORK ) 
 ) SS.: 
COUNTY OF ALBANY ) 
 
 

I, the undersigned (Assistant) Secretary of Albany County Industrial Development Agency (the 
“Agency”), DO HEREBY CERTIFY that I have compared the foregoing annexed extract of the minutes of 
the meeting of the members of the Agency, including the resolution contained therein, held on September 
4, 2024 with the original thereof on file in my office, and that the same is a true and correct copy of said 
original and of such resolution contained therein and of the whole of said original so far as the same relates 
to the subject matters therein referred to. 

 
I FURTHER CERTIFY that (A) all members of the Agency had due notice of said meeting; 

(B) said meeting was in all respects duly held; (C) pursuant to Article 7 of the Public Officers Law (the 
“Open Meetings Law”), said meeting was open to the general public, and due notice of the time and place 
of said meeting was duly given in accordance with such Open Meetings Law; and (D) there was a quorum 
of the members of the Agency present throughout said meeting. 
 

I FURTHER CERTIFY that, as of the date hereof, the attached resolution is in full force and effect 
and has not been amended, repealed or rescinded. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the seal of the Agency this 
_____ day of September, 2024. 
 
 

_____________________________________ 
(Assistant) Secretary 

 
 
 
(SEAL) 
 



 
A-1 

 

EXHIBIT A 
 

NEGATIVE DECLARATION 
 

- SEE ATTACHED – 
 



 
A-2 

 



 
A-3 

 

 



APPROVING RESOLUTION 
ATLAS COPCO COMPTEC LLC PROJECT 

 
A regular meeting of the Albany County Industrial Development Agency (the “Agency”) was 

convened in public session in Suite 100 at 111 Washington Avenue in the City of Albany, Albany County, 
New York on September 4, 2024 at 6:00 o’clock p.m., local time. 
 

The meeting was called to order by the (Vice) Chairperson of the Agency and, upon roll being 
called, the following members of the Agency were: 
 
PRESENT: 
 

Hon. William M. Clay Chairperson 
Michael Paparian Vice Chairperson 
Marlene McTigue Secretary 
Anton Dreslin Assistant Secretary 
William Murphy Treasurer 
Paul Nylin Member 
Hon. Wanda Willingham Member 

 
ABSENT: 
 

  
  

 
AGENCY STAFF PRESENT INCLUDED THE FOLLOWING: 
 

Kevin O’Connor Chief Executive Officer 
Amy Thompson Chief Financial Officer 
Lucas Rogers Senior Policy Analyst 
Christopher C. Canada, Esq. Agency Counsel 

 
The following resolution was offered by __________________, seconded by 

__________________, to wit: 
 

Resolution No. 0924-___ 
 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF DOCUMENTS IN CONNECTION 
WITH A LEASE/LEASEBACK TRANSACTION FOR A PROJECT FOR ATLAS 
COPCO COMPTEC LLC (COLLECTIVELY, THE “COMPANY”). 

 
WHEREAS, the Agency is authorized and empowered by the provisions of Chapter 1030 of the 

1969 Laws of New York, constituting Title 1 of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law, Chapter 24 of 
the Consolidated Laws of New York, as amended (the “Enabling Act”) and Chapter 178 of the 1975 Laws 
of New York, as amended, constituting Section 903-b of said General Municipal Law (said Chapter and the 
Enabling Act being hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Act”) to promote, develop, encourage and 
assist in the acquiring, constructing, reconstructing, improving, maintaining, equipping and furnishing of 
manufacturing, warehousing, research, commercial and industrial facilities, among others, for the purpose 
of promoting, attracting and developing economically sound commerce and industry to advance the job 
opportunities, health, general prosperity and economic welfare of the people of the State of New York, to 



- 2 - 
 

improve their prosperity and standard of living, and to prevent unemployment and economic deterioration; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, to accomplish its stated purposes, the Agency is authorized and empowered under the 
Act to acquire, construct, reconstruct and install one or more “projects” (as defined in the Act), or to cause 
said projects to be acquired, constructed, reconstructed and installed, and to convey said projects or to lease 
said projects with the obligation to purchase; and 

 
WHEREAS, Atlas Copco Comptec LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Company”), 

submitted an application (the “Application”) to the Agency, a copy of which Application is on file at the 
office of the Agency, which Application requested that the Agency consider undertaking a project (the 
“Project”) for the benefit of the Company, said Project consisting of the following: (A) (1) the acquisition 
of an interest in an approximately 44.50 acre parcel of land located at 46 School Road (tax map no.: 61.18-
2-4.1) in the Village of Voorheesville, Town of New Scotland, Albany County, New York (the “Land”), 
together with the four (4) buildings containing in aggregate approximately 106,901 square feet of space 
located thereon (collectively, the “Existing Facility”), (2) the renovation of the Existing Facility and the 
construction on the Land of an approximately 51,000 square foot building (the “New Facility” and 
collectively with the Existing Facility, the “Facility”) and (3) the acquisition and installation therein and 
thereon of related fixtures, machinery, equipment and other tangible personal property, including without 
limitation, tenant improvement and finish (collectively, the “Equipment”) (the Land, the Facility, and the 
Equipment being collectively referred to as the “Project Facility”); all of the foregoing to constitute a 
manufacturing and engineering facility to be owned and operated by the Company for the manufacturing 
of integrally geared centrifugal compressors and other directly and indirectly related activities and uses; (B) 
the granting of certain “financial assistance” (within the meaning of Section 854(14) of the Act) with respect 
to the foregoing, including potential exemptions from certain sales and use taxes, real property taxes, real 
estate transfer taxes and mortgage recording taxes (collectively, the “Financial Assistance”); and (C) the 
lease (with an obligation to purchase) or sale of the Project Facility to the Company or such other person 
as may be designated by the Company and agreed upon by the Agency; and 

 
WHEREAS, by resolution adopted by the members of the Agency on June 5, 2024 (the “Public 

Hearing Resolution”), the Agency authorized a public hearing to be held pursuant to Section 859-a of the 
Act with respect to the Project; and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the authorization contained in the Public Hearing Resolution, the Chief 

Executive Officer of the Agency (A) caused notice of a public hearing of the Agency pursuant to Section 
859-a of the Act (the “Public Hearing”) to hear all persons interested in the Project and the Financial 
Assistance being contemplated by the Agency with respect to the Project, to be mailed on July 9, 2024 to 
the chief executive officers of the county and of each city, town, village and school district (collectively, 
the “Affected Tax Jurisdictions”) in which the Project is to be located, (B) caused notice of the Public 
Hearing to be posted on July 17, 2024 on a bulletin board located at the Town of New Scotland Town Hall 
located at 2029 New Scotland Road in the Town of New Scotland, Albany County, New York and on July 
12, 2024 on the Agency’s website, (C) caused notice of the Public Hearing to be published in the Times 
Union, a newspaper of general circulation available to the residents of the Albany County, New York, 
(D) conducted the Public Hearing at the Town of New Scotland Town Hall located at 2029 New Scotland 
Road in the Town of New Scotland, Albany County, New York, (E) prepared a report of the Public Hearing 
(the “Report”) which fairly summarized the views presented at said public hearing and distributed same to 
the members of the Agency, and (F) caused a copy of the certified Public Hearing Resolution to be mailed 
on June 7, 2024 to the Affected Tax Jurisdictions; and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Article 8 of the Environmental Conservation Law, Chapter 43-B of the 
Consolidated Laws of New York, as amended (the “SEQR Act”) and the regulations (the “Regulations”) 



- 3 - 
 

adopted pursuant thereto by the Department of Environmental Conservation of the State of New York 
(collectively with the SEQR Act, “SEQRA”), by resolution adopted by the members of the Agency on 
September 4, 2024 (the “SEQRA Resolution”), the Agency (A) concurred in the determination that the 
Village of Voorheesville (the “Village”) is the “lead agency” with respect to the Project and 
(B) acknowledged receipt of a negative declaration from the Village issued on July 30, 2024 (the “Negative 
Declaration”), in which the Village determined that the Project was a “Type 1” action (as such quoted term 
is defined in SEQRA) but that the Project constitutes an action which would not have a significant impact 
on the environment and, therefore, did not require preparation of a Draft Environmental Impact Statement; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, the Agency has given due consideration to the Application, and to representations by 
the Company that (A) the granting by the Agency of the Financial Assistance with respect to the Project 
will be an inducement to the Company to undertake the Project in Albany County, New York and (B) the 
completion of the Project will not result in the removal of a plant or facility of any proposed occupant of 
the Project Facility from one area of the State of New York to another area in the State of New York and 
will not result in the abandonment of one or more plants or facilities of any occupant of the Project Facility 
located in the State of New York; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Agency desires to encourage the Company to preserve and advance the job 
opportunities, health, general prosperity and economic welfare of the people of Albany County, New York 
by undertaking the Project in Albany County, New York; and 
 

WHEREAS, in order to consummate the Project and the granting of the Financial Assistance 
described in the notice of the Public Hearing, the Agency proposes to enter into the following documents 
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Agency Documents”): (A) a certain lease to agency (the “Lease 
to Agency” or the “Underlying Lease”) by and between the Company, as landlord, and the Agency, as 
tenant, pursuant to which the Company will lease to the Agency a portion of the Land and all improvements 
now or hereafter located on said portion of the Land (collectively, the “Leased Premises”); (B) a certain 
license agreement (the “License to Agency” or the “License Agreement”) by and between the Company, 
as licensor, and the Agency, as licensee, pursuant to which the Company will grant to the Agency (1) a 
license to enter upon the balance of the Land (the “Licensed Premises”) for the purpose of undertaking and 
completing the Project and (2) in the event of an occurrence of an Event of Default by the Company, an 
additional license to enter upon the Licensed Premises for the purpose of pursuing its remedies under the 
Lease Agreement (as hereinafter defined); (C) a lease agreement (and a memorandum thereof) (the “Lease 
Agreement”) by and between the Agency and the Company, pursuant to which, among other things, the 
Company agrees to undertake the Project as agent of the Agency and the Company further agrees to lease 
the Project Facility from the Agency and, as rental thereunder, to pay the Agency’s administrative fee 
relating to the Project and to pay all expenses incurred by the Agency with respect to the Project; (D) a 
payment in lieu of tax agreement (the “Payment in Lieu of Tax Agreement”) by and between the Agency 
and the Company, pursuant to which the Company will agree to pay certain payments in lieu of taxes with 
respect to the Project Facility; (E) a uniform agency project agreement (the “Uniform Agency Project 
Agreement”) by and between the Agency and the Company regarding the granting of the financial 
assistance and the potential recapture of such assistance; (F) a certain recapture agreement (the “Section 
875 GML Recapture Agreement”) by and between the Company and the Agency, required by the Act, 
regarding the recovery or recapture of certain sales and use taxes; (G) a sales tax exemption letter (the 
“Sales Tax Exemption Letter”) to ensure the granting of the sales tax exemption which forms a part of the 
Financial Assistance; (H) a New York State Department of Taxation and Finance form entitled “IDA 
Appointment of Project Operator or Agency for Sales Tax Purposes” (the form required to be filed pursuant 
to Section 874(9) of the Act) (the “Thirty-Day Sales Tax Report”) and any additional report to the 
Commissioner of the State Department of Taxation and Finance concerning the amount of sales tax 
exemption benefit for the Project (the “Additional Thirty-Day Project Report”); (I) if the Company requests 



- 4 - 
 

the Agency to appoint a contractor or contractors, as agent(s) of the Agency (each, a “Contractor”) (1) a 
certain agency indemnification agreement (the “Contractor Agency and Indemnification Agreement”) by 
and between the Agency and the Contractor, (2) a certain recapture agreement (the “Contractor Section 875 
GML Recapture Agreement”) by and between the Agency and the Contractor, (3) a sales tax exemption 
letter (the “Contractor Sales Tax Exemption Letter”), and (4) a Thirty-Day Sales Tax Report (the 
“Contractor Thirty-Day Sales Tax Report”) and any additional report to the Commissioner of the State 
Department of Taxation and Finance concerning the amount of sales tax exemption benefit for the Project 
(the “Additional Thirty-Day Project Report”) (collectively, the “Contractor Documents”); (J) if the 
Company intends to request the Agency to appoint (1) the Company, as agent of the Agency and (2) a 
Contractor, as agent of the Agency prior to closing on the Project and the Lease Agreement, agency and 
indemnification agreements, interim Section 875 GML recapture agreements, interim sales tax exemption 
letters and interim thirty-day sales tax reports (collectively, the “Interim Documents”); and (K) various 
certificates relating to the Project (the “Closing Documents”); 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MEMBERS OF ALBANY COUNTY 

INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. All action taken by the Chief Executive Officer of the Agency with respect to the 
Public Hearing with respect to the Project is hereby ratified and confirmed. 
 

Section 2. The law firm of Hodgson Russ LLP is hereby appointed Agency Counsel to the 
Agency with respect to all matters in connection with the Project.  Agency Counsel for the Agency is hereby 
authorized, at the expense of the Company, to work with the Company, counsel to the Company, counsel 
to the Agency and others to prepare, for submission to the Agency, all documents necessary to effect the 
transactions contemplated by this Resolution. 
 

Section 3. The Agency hereby finds and determines that: 
 

(A) By virtue of the Act, the Agency has been vested with all powers necessary and 
convenient to carry out and effectuate the purposes and provisions of the Act and to exercise all 
powers granted to it under the Act; 

 
(B) The Project constitutes a “project,” as such term is defined in the Act; 

 
(C) The Project site is located entirely within the boundaries of Albany County, New 

York; 
 

(D) It is estimated at the present time that the costs of the planning, development, 
acquisition, construction, reconstruction and installation of the Project Facility (collectively, the 
“Project Costs”) will be approximately $40,000,000; 

 
(E) The completion of the Project will not result in the removal of a plant or facility of 

any proposed occupant of the Project Facility from one area of the State of New York to another 
area in the State of New York and will not result in the abandonment of one or more plants or 
facilities of any occupant of the Project Facility located in the State of New York; 

 
(F) (1) The Project Facility does not constitute a project where facilities or property 

that are primarily used in making retail sales of goods and/or services to customers who personally 
visit such facilities constitute more than one-third of the total cost of the Project, and accordingly 
the Project is not prohibited by the provisions of Section 862(2)(a) of the Act, and (2) accordingly 



- 5 - 
 

the Agency is authorized to provide financial assistance in respect of the Project pursuant to Section 
862(2)(a) of the Act; 

 
(G) The granting of the Financial Assistance by the Agency with respect to the Project 

will promote and maintain the job opportunities, general prosperity and economic welfare of the 
citizens of Albany County, New York and the State of New York and improve their standard of 
living, and thereby serve the public purposes of the Act; 

 
(H) The Agency has reviewed the Report and has fully considered all comments 

contained therein; 
 
(I) The Project should receive the Financial Assistance in the form of exemptions 

from sales tax, mortgage recording tax and real property tax based on the description of expected 
public benefits to occur as a result of this Project, as described on Exhibit A attached hereto and 
failure by the Company to meet the expected public benefits will result in a recapture event; and 

 
(J) It is desirable and in the public interest for the Agency to enter into the Agency 

Documents. 
 

Section 4. In consequence of the foregoing, the Agency hereby determines to:  (A) accept the 
License Agreement; (B) lease the Project Facility to the Company pursuant to the Lease Agreement; (C) 
acquire, construct and install the Project Facility, or cause the Project Facility to be acquired, installed and 
constructed; (D) subject to receipt of the approval of the affected taxing jurisdictions, enter into the Payment 
in Lieu of Tax Agreement; (E) enter into the Uniform Agency Project Agreement; (F) enter into the Section 
875 GML Recapture Agreement; (G) secure the Loan by entering into the Mortgage; and (H) grant the 
Financial Assistance with respect to the Project. 

 
Section 5. The Agency is hereby authorized (A) to acquire a license in the Licensed Premises 

pursuant to the License Agreement, (B) to acquire a leasehold interest in the Leased Premises pursuant to 
the Underlying Lease, (C) to acquire title to the Equipment pursuant to a bill of sale (the “Bill of Sale to 
Agency”) from the Company to the Agency, and (D) to do all things necessary or appropriate for the 
accomplishment thereof, and all acts heretofore taken by the Agency with respect to such acquisitions are 
hereby approved, ratified and confirmed.  

 
Section 6. The Agency is hereby authorized to acquire, construct and install the Project 

Facility as described in the Lease Agreement and to do all things necessary or appropriate for the 
accomplishment thereof, and all acts heretofore taken by the Agency with respect to such acquisition, 
construction and installation are hereby ratified, confirmed and approved. 
 

Section 7. The Chairperson or Vice Chairperson of the Agency, with the assistance of Agency 
Counsel, is authorized to negotiate and approve the form and substance of the Agency Documents. 
 

Section 8. (A) The Chairperson (or Vice Chairperson) or Chief Executive Officer of the 
Agency is hereby authorized, on behalf of the Agency, to execute and deliver the Agency Documents, and, 
where appropriate, the Secretary (or Assistant Secretary) of the Agency is hereby authorized to affix the 
seal of the Agency thereto and to attest the same, all in the forms thereof as the Chairperson (or Vice 
Chairperson) or Chief Executive Officer shall approve, the execution thereof by the Chairperson (or Vice 
Chairperson) or Chief Executive Officer to constitute conclusive evidence of such approval. 
 



- 6 - 
 

(B) The Chairperson (or Vice Chairperson) or Chief Executive Officer of the Agency 
is hereby further authorized, on behalf of the Agency, to designate any additional Authorized 
Representatives of the Agency (as defined in and pursuant to the Lease Agreement). 

 
Section 9. The officers, employees and agents of the Agency are hereby authorized and 

directed for and in the name and on behalf of the Agency to do all acts and things required or provided for 
by the provisions of the Agency Documents, and to execute and deliver all such additional certificates, 
instruments and documents, to pay all such fees, charges and expenses and to do all such further acts and 
things as may be necessary or, in the opinion of the officer, employee or agent acting, desirable and proper 
to effect the purposes of the foregoing resolution and to cause compliance by the Agency with all of the 
terms, covenants and provisions of the Agency Documents binding upon the Agency. 
 

Section 10. This resolution shall take effect immediately. 
 

The question of the adoption of the foregoing resolution was duly put to a vote on roll call, which 
resulted as follows: 
 

Hon. William M. Clay VOTING __________ 
Michael Paparian VOTING __________ 
Marlene McTigue VOTING __________ 
Anton Dreslin VOTING __________ 
William Murphy VOTING __________ 
Paul Nylin VOTING __________ 
Hon. Wanda Willingham VOTING __________ 

 
The foregoing resolution was thereupon declared duly adopted. 
 
 
 

[REMAINDER OF THE PAGE INTENIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 



- 7 - 
 

STATE OF NEW YORK ) 
 ) SS.: 
COUNTY OF ALBANY ) 
 
 

I, the undersigned (Assistant) Secretary of Albany County Industrial Development Agency (the 
“Agency”), DO HEREBY CERTIFY that I have compared the foregoing annexed extract of the minutes of 
the meeting of the members of the Agency, including the resolution contained therein, held on September 
4, 2024 with the original thereof on file in my office, and that the same is a true and correct copy of said 
original and of such resolution contained therein and of the whole of said original so far as the same relates 
to the subject matters therein referred to. 

 
I FURTHER CERTIFY that (A) all members of the Agency had due notice of said meeting; 

(B) said meeting was in all respects duly held; (C) pursuant to Article 7 of the Public Officers Law (the 
“Open Meetings Law”), said meeting was open to the general public, and due notice of the time and place 
of said meeting was duly given in accordance with such Open Meetings Law; and (D) there was a quorum 
of the members of the Agency present throughout said meeting. 
 

I FURTHER CERTIFY that, as of the date hereof, the attached resolution is in full force and effect 
and has not been amended, repealed or rescinded. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the seal of the Agency this 
_____ day of September, 2024. 
 
 

_____________________________________ 
(Assistant) Secretary 

 
 
 
(SEAL) 



 

A-1 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

DESCRIPTION OF THE EXPECTED PUBLIC BENEFITS 
 

In the discussions had between the Project Beneficiary and the Agency with respect to the Project 
Beneficiary’s request for Financial Assistance from the Agency with respect to the Project, the Project 
Beneficiary has represented to the Agency that the Project is expected to provide the following benefits to 
the Agency and/or to the residents of Albany County, New York (the “Public Benefits”): 

 
Description of Benefit Applicable to Project 

(indicate Yes or NO) 
Expected Benefit 

1. Retention of existing jobs  Yes  No Currently 248 full time 
employees at project site and 35 
full time employees are to be 
retained. 

2. Creation of new permanent 
jobs 

 Yes  No 55 full time equivalent new jobs 
at the Project Facility within 2 
years of the date hereof. 

3. Creation of construction 
employment for local labor 
(i.e., approximately 60% of 
labor resident from Albany 
County) 

 Yes  No Anticipated 110-170 full time 
equivalent construction jobs at the 
Project Facility by the second 
year of construction. 

4. Private sector investment  Yes  No $40,000,000 (est.) at the Project 
Facility within 2 years of the date 
hereof. 

5. Estimated value of tax 
exemptions 

 Yes  No Approximately $1,625,000 of tax 
exemptions from sales and use tax 
and approximately $2,940,000 of 
real property tax exemption. 
 

6. Likelihood of project being 
accomplished in a timely 
fashion 

 Yes  No High likelihood of project being 
completed in a timely manner. 
 

7. Extent of new revenue 
provided to local taxing 
jurisdictions 

Yes  No The Project will result in 
increased revenues to the local 
taxing jurisdictions. 
 

8. Any additional public 
benefits 

 Yes  No The Project will result in 
additional development in the 
area. 
 

9. Regional wealth creation (% 
of sales/customers outside of 
the County 

 Yes 
 

 No 
 

N/A 

10. Located in a highly 
distressed census tract 

 Yes  No N/A 
 



 

A-2 
 

11. Alignment with local 
planning and development 
efforts 

 Yes 
 

 No 
 

The Project is consistent with 
local planning and development 
efforts. 
 

12. Promotes walkable 
community areas 

 Yes  No The Project site is not located in 
an urban setting with sidewalks. 
 

13. Elimination or reduction of 
blight 

 Yes  No The Project site is not located in a 
blighted area. 
 

14. Proximity/support of 
regional tourism 
attractions/facilities 

 Yes 
 

 No 
 

N/A 

15. Local or County official 
support 

 Yes 
 

 No 
 

The Project has local and County 
support. 
 

16. Building or site has historic 
designation 

 Yes  No There is no historic designation. 
 

17. Provides brownfield 
remediation 

 Yes  No No brownfields present. 

 


	4. ACIDA Financial Statement Narrative_July 2024.pdf
	4. ACIDA Financial Statements_July 2024.pdf
	Balance sheet
	Profit & Loss
	Actual vs Budget



